

Kent Academic Repository

Ishak, Jocelyne, Roitzheim, Constanze and Williamson, Jordan (2023) *Levels of Algebraicity in Stable Homotopy Theories*. Journal of the London Mathematical Society . ISSN 0024-6107.

Downloaded from <u>https://kar.kent.ac.uk/100602/</u> The University of Kent's Academic Repository KAR

The version of record is available from https://doi.org/10.1112/jlms.12752

This document version Publisher pdf

DOI for this version

Licence for this version CC BY (Attribution)

Additional information

Versions of research works

Versions of Record

If this version is the version of record, it is the same as the published version available on the publisher's web site. Cite as the published version.

Author Accepted Manuscripts

If this document is identified as the Author Accepted Manuscript it is the version after peer review but before type setting, copy editing or publisher branding. Cite as Surname, Initial. (Year) 'Title of article'. To be published in *Title of Journal*, Volume and issue numbers [peer-reviewed accepted version]. Available at: DOI or URL (Accessed: date).

Enquiries

If you have questions about this document contact <u>ResearchSupport@kent.ac.uk</u>. Please include the URL of the record in KAR. If you believe that your, or a third party's rights have been compromised through this document please see our <u>Take Down policy</u> (available from <u>https://www.kent.ac.uk/guides/kar-the-kent-academic-repository#policies</u>).



DOI: 10.1112/jlms.12752

Journal of the London Mathematical Society

Levels of algebraicity in stable homotopy theories

Jocelyne Ishak¹ | Constanze Roitzheim²

Jordan Williamson³

¹Department of Mathematics, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, Tennessee, USA

²School of Mathematics, Statistics and Actuarial Science, University of Kent, Canterbury, UK

³Department of Algebra, Faculty of Mathematics and Physics, Charles University in Prague, Praha, Czech Republic

Correspondence

Constanze Roitzheim, University of Kent School of Mathematics, Statistics and Actuarial Science Sibson building Canterbury, CT2 7FS, UK. Email: c.roitzheim@kent.ac.uk

Funding information

London Mathematical Society; Czech Science Foundation, Grant/Award Number: GA ČR 20-02760Y

Abstract

We study several different notions of algebraicity in use in stable homotopy theory and prove implications between them. The relationships between the different meanings of algebraic are unexpectedly subtle, and we illustrate this with several interesting examples arising from chromatic homotopy theory.

MSC 2020 55P42, 55U35 (primary)

Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	2
	1.1. Notions of algebraicity	2
	1.2. Relating the different notions.	4
	1.3. Conventions	5
2.	SHIPLEY'S ALGEBRAICISATION THEOREM	5
	2.1. Modules, monoids and adjoint lifting.	5
	2.2. Change of rings	6
	2.3. Eilenberg–Mac Lane ring spectra associated to a DGA	6
3.	ALGEBRAIC MODEL CATEGORIES AND MORITA THEORY.	9
	3.1. Algebraicity	9
	3.2. Morita theory	9
	3.3. Detecting algebraicity	12

© 2023 The Authors. Journal of the London Mathematical Society is copyright © London Mathematical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

4. DETECTING ALGEBRAICITY VIA Ho(Sp)-ACTIONS1:4.1. Actions of Ho(Sp) and $D(\mathbb{Z})$ 1:4.2. Trivial actions1:4.3. Detecting trivial actions1:5. EXAMPLES AND APPLICATIONS205.1. $E(1)$ -local spectra and exotic models205.2. Morava K-theory215.3. Further examples from chromatic homotopy theory225.4. Complex cobordism225.5. Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku 235.6. Summary of our findings30ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS33REFERENCES33										
4.1. Actions of Ho(Sp) and $D(\mathbb{Z})$ 14.2. Trivial actions14.3. Detecting trivial actions15. EXAMPLES AND APPLICATIONS205.1. $E(1)$ -local spectra and exotic models205.2. Morava K-theory215.3. Further examples from chromatic homotopy theory225.4. Complex cobordism225.5. Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku 235.6. Summary of our findings30ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS33REFERENCES33	4.	DETECTING ALGEBRAICITY VIA Ho(Sp)-ACTIONS	13							
4.2. Trivial actions14.3. Detecting trivial actions145. EXAMPLES AND APPLICATIONS205.1. $E(1)$ -local spectra and exotic models205.2. Morava K-theory215.3. Further examples from chromatic homotopy theory205.4. Complex cobordism215.5. Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku 215.6. Summary of our findings30ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS31REFERENCES32		4.1. Actions of Ho(Sp) and $D(\mathbb{Z})$	13							
4.3. Detecting trivial actions185. EXAMPLES AND APPLICATIONS205.1. $E(1)$ -local spectra and exotic models205.2. Morava K-theory215.3. Further examples from chromatic homotopy theory205.4. Complex cobordism215.5. Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku 215.6. Summary of our findings30ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS31REFERENCES33		4.2. Trivial actions	15							
5. EXAMPLES AND APPLICATIONS245.1. $E(1)$ -local spectra and exotic models245.2. Morava K-theory225.3. Further examples from chromatic homotopy theory265.4. Complex cobordism275.5. Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku 285.6. Summary of our findings30ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS33REFERENCES33		4.3. Detecting trivial actions	18							
5.1. $E(1)$ -local spectra and exotic models245.2. Morava K-theory225.3. Further examples from chromatic homotopy theory265.4. Complex cobordism275.5. Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku 285.6. Summary of our findings30ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS33REFERENCES33	5.	EXAMPLES AND APPLICATIONS	20							
5.2. Morava K-theory2.5.3. Further examples from chromatic homotopy theory2.5.4. Complex cobordism2.5.5. Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku 2.5.6. Summary of our findings3.ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS3.REFERENCES3.		5.1. $E(1)$ -local spectra and exotic models	20							
5.3. Further examples from chromatic homotopy theory 24 5.4. Complex cobordism 27 5.5. Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku 28 5.6. Summary of our findings 30 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 31 REFERENCES 32		5.2. Morava <i>K</i> -theory	23							
5.4. Complex cobordism2'5.5. Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku 2i5.6. Summary of our findings3iACKNOWLEDGEMENTS3iREFERENCES3i		5.3. Further examples from chromatic homotopy theory	26							
5.5. Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku 245.6. Summary of our findings30ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS31REFERENCES33		5.4. Complex cobordism	27							
5.6. Summary of our findings 30 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 31 REFERENCES 32		5.5. Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku	28							
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS		5.6. Summary of our findings	30							
REFERENCES. 3	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS									
	RE	31								

1 | INTRODUCTION

When studying problems of a homotopical nature, a useful strategy is to reduce to algebra and use insight there to make deductions in topology. Such a reduction often loses a lot of information, but in some cases, the homotopy theory of interest can be completely modelled algebraically. For example, Serre's theorem shows that the homotopy theory of rational spectra is equivalent to the category of graded Q-vector spaces. As such, one might say that the category of rational spectra is algebraic. However, there are many different meanings of algebraic in use in the community. One goal of this project is to clarify the relationship between these different notions.

In this paper, we study several definitions of algebraicity, give some alternative characterisations of these definitions and moreover explore the relations between them. Furthermore, we illustrate our results with many examples of interest, arising primarily from chromatic homotopy theory.

1.1 | Notions of algebraicity

Firstly, we give an overview of the different definitions and what behaviour they seek to capture. We will discuss some examples later on in this introduction.

Given a stable model category C, there are many levels on which one can measure how algebraic it is. The strictest notion is to require that it is algebraic up to Quillen equivalence; we say that a stable model category C is *algebraic* if it is Quillen equivalent to a $Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -enriched model category. This ensures that all higher homotopical information (e.g. Toda brackets) is determined by algebraic data. If C has a compact generator, then using Morita theory [13, 43] and machinery from [12], one can establish that C is algebraic if and only if C is Quillen equivalent to modules over a differential graded algebra (DGA), see Theorem 3.11.

This notion of algebraicity is relatively well established but also technically quite strong, so in order to get a richer, fuller picture we will weaken this notion to study other kinds of algebraicity. Instead of requiring that all higher homotopical information is determined by algebra, one can ask for only the triangulated structure of the homotopy category Ho(C) to be. This amounts to asking that Ho(C) is triangulated equivalent to the derived category of modules over a DGA (or a DG-category). If this is the case, we say that *C* is *triangulated algebraic*.

Any stable model category carries a homotopical enrichment in spectra [27], and therefore, associated to any two objects $X, Y \in C$, there is a homotopy mapping spectrum RHom(X, Y). One can ask for this homotopical enrichment to be determined in algebra; this amounts to asking that the action of Ho(Sp) on Ho(C) factors over the derived category $D(\mathbb{Z})$, see Proposition 4.3. In this case, we say that *C* has a $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action. This furthermore implies that RHom(X, Y) is an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module for all $X, Y \in C$.

The action of Ho(Sp) on Ho(C) also induces an action of the stable homotopy groups of spheres. The less complex this action is, the closer to algebra one might consider C. One can then examine the extremal case when the action of $\pi_{>0}(\mathbb{S})$ is trivial; in this case, we say that C has a *trivial* Ho(Sp)-*action*.

In the course of studying these notions, we give some alternative characterisations of them. Some of these characterisations have theoretical value in relating the different kinds of algebraicity as we discuss later in this introduction, but some also give valuable criteria for determining how algebraic a given example is. For example, if *C* has a single compact generator, we can test if a Ho(Sp)-action on Ho(*C*) is trivial just on this compact generator, see Proposition 4.11. Furthermore, we examine to what extent the triviality of an action can be tested against only a small number of elements in $\pi_{>0}(\mathbb{S})$. We confirm this for a special case in Theorem 4.18 and we conjecture that it holds more generally, see Conjecture 4.13.

Our first main result gives some equivalent characterisations of the aforementioned definitions. For simplicity, in this introduction, we only state the results for the category of modules over a ring spectrum, and we refer the reader to the relevant sections in this paper for further details and the more general statements.

Theorem. Let R be a ring spectrum.

- (i) (3.15) The category R-mod is algebraic if and only if R is weakly equivalent to an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra as a ring spectrum.
- (ii) (4.3) If the category R-mod has $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action, the homotopy mapping spectra $\operatorname{Hom}_R(M, N)$ are $H\mathbb{Z}$ -modules for all $M, N \in R$ -mod.
- (iii) (4.18) If R is E(1)-local at an odd prime p, then R-mod has trivial Ho(Sp)-action if and only if $R \wedge^L \alpha_1 = 0$ where $\alpha_1 \in \pi_{2p-3}(L_1 S)$ denotes the Hopf element.
- (iv) (4.21) If R is an element of a set of ring spectra which detects nilpotence in the sense of Definition 4.20, then R-mod has trivial Ho(Sp)-action.

One might wonder if it is enough to require that the ring *R* is an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module in part (i) to detect algebraicity. We show in Theorem 5.14 that this condition is not sufficient, by constructing a certain endomorphism ring spectrum which is an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module but not an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra. Moreover, we use the above theorem to study several examples from chromatic homotopy theory such as K(n)-mod and MU-mod; we refer the reader to Section 5 for the full details, and to Table 1 for a summary of the examples we treat. For now, we give a quick overview of some important motivating examples.

The simplest (non-trivial) example one might consider is the category of modules over Morava *K*-theory K(n) for some $0 < n < \infty$, see Section 5.2. Since $K(n)_*$ is a graded field, the universal coefficient spectral sequence collapses, showing that there is a triangulated equivalence $Ho(K(n)-mod) \simeq D(K(n)_*)$. This shows that K(n)-mod is triangulated algebraic. However, this triangulated equivalence does not preserve higher homotopical information, and one can show that K(n)-mod is not algebraic, and also that it does not have a $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action. However, it does have a trivial Ho(Sp)-action by Proposition 4.21. Moreover, we use an obstruction theory in the case of K(1) to illustrate more directly why it does not have a $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action.

We study several other examples in detail too. In particular, we study the category L_1 Sp of E(1)local spectra and its exotic models, see Examples 5.5, 5.6 and 5.7. If we work at an odd prime, then Franke [14] as well as Patchkoria and Pstrągowski [32] have shown that the category of E(1)-local spectra has an exotic model; that is, a category which is triangulated equivalent to Ho(L_1 Sp) but for which there is no Quillen equivalence to L_1 Sp. We show that Franke's exotic model is algebraic in each of the senses described above. However, it is not known whether Franke's exotic model is unique; therefore, we also consider how algebraic a general exotic model for L_1 Sp must be.

We also provide a detailed study of the category of modules over the endomorphism ring spectrum $\mathcal{E} = \text{Hom}_{ku}(H\mathbb{Z}, H\mathbb{Z})$ where ku denotes the connective complex *K*-theory spectrum, see Section 5.5. We show that the ring spectrum \mathcal{E} is an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module, but it is not an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra, nor is it weakly equivalent to an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra as a ring spectrum. This result is the key to unlocking further counterexamples; for instance, the category of \mathcal{E} -modules has a $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action, but is not algebraic.

1.2 | Relating the different notions

As demonstrated by the examples discussed above, there is a surprising amount of subtlety present in understanding the relations between these different notions of algebraicity. The other main result for this paper is the following theorem which relates the different notions of algebraicity.

Theorem. *Let C be a stable model category.*

- (i) (4.5 and 5.15) If C is algebraic, then Ho(C) possesses a $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action. The converse does not hold.
- (ii) (4.10 and 5.10) If Ho(C) has a D(Z)-action, then it also has a trivial Ho(Sp)-action. The converse does not hold.
- (iii) (3.14 and 5.10) If C is algebraic, then it is also triangulated algebraic. The converse does not hold.
- (iv) (5.5) Being triangulated algebraic does not imply $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action or trivial Ho(Sp)-action in general.

For simplicity, we illustrate the above theorem in the following diagram demonstrating which implications between the different notions hold and which fail. The complexity of this diagram highlights the importance of reconciling the different types of algebraicity which appear in the field.



In general, it is extremely difficult to determine whether Ho(C) is triangulated algebraic. Schwede's notion of *n*-order [38] can sometimes give a measure to what extent this is *not* the case but remains inconclusive for some examples, see Example 5.12. In some cases, there is a general machinery to produce a triangulated equivalence to an algebraic model, see Example 5.11, but failure to apply this machinery does still not rule out the existence of another triangulated equivalence in general. Therefore, we can only conclude that a characterisation of triangulated algebraic model categories is likely to remain an open problem for some time.

1.3 | Conventions

A object X of a triangulated category T is said to be *compact* if $[X, -]^{\mathsf{T}}$ commutes with arbitrary coproducts. A full triangulated subcategory \mathcal{L} of T is said to be *localising* if it is closed under arbitrary coproducts. An object $X \in \mathsf{T}$ is said to be a *generator* if the smallest localising subcategory of T containing X is the whole of T. If X is a compact object in T, then it is a generator if and only if the corepresentable $[X, -]^{\mathsf{T}}$ detects trivial objects, see, for example, [43, Lemma 2.2.1]. When T has a compact generator (rather than a set of compact generators), we say that T is *monogenic*.

We write Sp to denote a suitable monoidal model category of spectra such as symmetric spectra or orthogonal spectra. We write S for the sphere spectrum.

2 | SHIPLEY'S ALGEBRAICISATION THEOREM

In [39], Shipley constructs a passage between ring spectra and differential graded algebras. In this section, we give a summary of some of the main results of [39] that will be needed in later sections. Furthermore, we recall the construction of the Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum associated to a DGA, which will be crucial for the rest of this paper.

2.1 | Modules, monoids and adjoint lifting

Given a monoidal model category C, we denote the category of monoid objects in C by Ring(C). Given $S \in \text{Ring}(C)$, we write S-mod(C) for the category of S-modules in C. If the underlying category is evident from the context, we will instead write S-mod. Similarly, given a commutative monoid S in C, we write S-alg(C) for the category of S-algebras in C. Under mild hypotheses, the categories of monoids, modules over a monoid and algebras over a commutative monoid admit model structures in which the weak equivalences and fibrations are created by the forgetful functors to C, see [40, Theorem 4.1].

Suppose that we have a weak monoidal Quillen adjunction $L : D \rightleftharpoons C : R$ in the sense of [42, Definition 3.6]. Since the right adjoint *R* is lax monoidal it preserves monoid objects. Therefore, by the adjoint lifting theorem (see also [42, §3.3]) for every monoid *A* in *C*, the Quillen adjunction (L, R) lifts to a Quillen adjunction

A-mod
$$\xrightarrow{L^A} R(A)$$
-mod

5

between the categories of modules. We note that the functor L^A is different to the underlying functor *L*. When *L* is strong monoidal, the functor L^A takes the form

$$L^{A}(M) = L(M) \wedge_{L(R(A))} A$$

for all $M \in R(A)$ -mod.

2.2 | Change of rings

Recall that given a map of commutative ring spectra θ : $S \to R$, the *restriction of scalars* θ^* : R-mod $\to S$ -mod has a left adjoint $\theta_* = R \wedge_S$ — called *extension of scalars*. Together these form a strong monoidal Quillen adjunction, and so given an R-algebra A (i.e. a monoid in R-mod), there is an induced Quillen adjunction

$$\theta^A_*$$
: $\theta^*(A)$ -mod(S-mod) $\rightleftharpoons A$ -mod(R-mod) : θ^* ,

where $\theta_*^A(X) = \theta_*(X) \wedge_{\theta_*,\theta^*(A)} A$ as described above.

Lemma 2.1. Let θ : $S \rightarrow R$ be a map of commutative ring spectra, and let A be an R-algebra. The adjunction

$$\theta^A_*: \theta^*(A)\operatorname{-mod}(S\operatorname{-mod}) \rightleftharpoons A\operatorname{-mod}(R\operatorname{-mod}): \theta^*$$

is a Quillen equivalence.

Proof. Since the restriction of scalars θ^* reflects weak equivalences, by [21, Corollary 1.3.16], it is sufficient to show that the derived unit

$$\eta_M: M \to \theta^* \theta^A_* M$$

is an isomorphism for all $M \in \text{Ho}(\theta^*(A)\text{-mod})$. Consider the full subcategory \mathcal{L} of $\text{Ho}(\theta^*(A)\text{-mod})$ consisting of the objects M for which the derived unit η_M is an isomorphism. Since θ^* and θ^A_* are both exact, coproduct-preserving functors, the subcategory \mathcal{L} is localising. The subcategory \mathcal{L} also contains $\theta^*(A)$ since by definition of θ^A_* , we have

$$\theta^*\theta^A_*(\theta^*(A)) = \theta^*\Big(\theta_*\theta^*(A) \wedge_{\theta_*\theta^*(A)} A\Big) \simeq \theta^*(A).$$

Since $\theta^*(A)$ is a generator for $\theta^*(A)$ -mod, the localising subcategory \mathcal{L} is the whole of $Ho(\theta^*(A)$ -mod) as required.

2.3 | Eilenberg-Mac Lane ring spectra associated to a DGA

We can associate to any given DGA \mathcal{A} a ring spectrum EML(\mathcal{A}) called the Eilenberg–Mac Lane ring spectrum associated to \mathcal{A} . In this subsection, we give a brief summary of the construction of this ring spectrum. This is based on [39], and we refer the reader there for more details.

Let $\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}^+$ denote the category of non-negatively graded chain complexes of abelian groups, and sAb denote the category of simplicial abelian groups. Let $\widetilde{\mathbb{Z}}S^1$ be the reduced free simplicial abelian group on the simplicial circle $S^1 = \Delta[1]/\partial \Delta[1]$, and let $\mathbb{Z}[1]$ be the chain complex which contains a single copy of \mathbb{Z} in degree one. We can form the categories $\operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}^+, \mathbb{Z}[1])$ and $\operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\operatorname{sAb}, \widetilde{\mathbb{Z}}S^1)$ of symmetric spectra over $\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}^+$ and sAb as in [22]. To ease notation, we will denote these categories as $\operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}^+)$ and $\operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\operatorname{sAb})$ respectively.

There are Quillen equivalences [39, Proposition 2.10]

$$H\mathbb{Z}\operatorname{-mod} \xrightarrow{Z} \operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\mathrm{sAb}) \xrightarrow{L} \operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\mathrm{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{+}) \xrightarrow{D} \operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}$$
(2.2)

which we briefly describe now. The functor U is induced by the forgetful functor from simplicial abelian groups to simplicial sets and has a left adjoint Z. The pair (Z, U) is a strong monoidal Quillen equivalence. The adjunction (L, ϕ^*N) is a weak monoidal Quillen equivalence and is a stabilised version of the Dold–Kan correspondence. The right adjoint is given by first applying the normalisation functor

$$N: sAb \rightarrow Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}^+$$

levelwise, and then restricting scalars along the ring map

$$\phi$$
: Sym_{Ch⁺}($\mathbb{Z}[1]$) $\rightarrow \mathcal{N}$,

where $\mathcal{N} = N(\text{Sym}_{\text{sAb}}(\mathbb{Z}S^1))$ and $\text{Sym}_{\mathcal{C}}: \mathcal{C} \to \text{Fun}(\Sigma, \mathcal{C})$ denotes the free commutative monoid in the category of symmetric sequences. The functor

$$R: \operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}} \to \operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{+})$$

is defined by setting $(RY)_m = C_0(Y \otimes \mathbb{Z}[m])$, where C_0 is the connective cover, and $\mathbb{Z}[m]$ is the chain complex with a single copy of \mathbb{Z} in degree *m*. This has a left adjoint *D*, and the pair (D, R) forms a strong monoidal Quillen equivalence.

By taking monoid objects in the Quillen equivalences of (2.2) and applying [42, Theorem 3.12], one obtains Quillen equivalences.

$$H\mathbb{Z}\text{-alg} \xrightarrow{Z} \operatorname{Ring}(\operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\operatorname{sAb})) \xrightarrow{\ell^{\operatorname{Imon}}} \operatorname{Ring}(\operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{+})) \xrightarrow{D} \operatorname{DGA}_{\mathbb{Z}}.$$
 (2.3)

Taking composites of derived functors in (2.3), we obtain functors

$$\mathbb{H}: \mathrm{DGA}_{\mathbb{Z}} \to H\mathbb{Z}\text{-alg} \quad \text{and} \quad \Theta: H\mathbb{Z}\text{-alg} \to \mathrm{DGA}_{\mathbb{Z}}$$

defined by $\mathbb{H} = UL^{\text{mon}}cR$ and $\Theta = Dc\phi^*NZc$, where *c* denotes cofibrant replacement in the appropriate category of monoids. Note that no fibrant replacements are necessary since each of the right adjoints preserves all weak equivalences.

We now have the necessary background to recall the following important theorem of Shipley.

7

Theorem 2.4 [39, Corollary 2.15].

- (i) Let R be an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra. Then R-mod $(H\mathbb{Z}$ -mod) $\simeq_{\Omega} \Theta(R)$ -mod $(Ch_{\mathbb{Z}})$.
- (ii) Let \mathcal{A} be a DGA. Then \mathcal{A} -mod(Ch_Z) $\simeq_Q \mathbb{H}\mathcal{A}$ -mod($\mathcal{H}\mathbb{Z}$ -mod).

Definition 2.5. The Eilenberg–Mac Lane ring spectrum associated to a DGA \mathcal{A} is defined as $EML(\mathcal{A}) := \theta^*(\mathbb{H}\mathcal{A})$ where θ^* denotes the restriction of scalars along the unit map $\theta : \mathbb{S} \to H\mathbb{Z}$.

In particular, if A is concentrated in degree 0, the spectrum EML(A) is the 'classical' Eilenberg-Mac Lane spectrum HA whose homotopy groups are

 $\pi_0(H\mathcal{A}) \cong \mathcal{A}$ and $\pi_i(H\mathcal{A}) = 0$ for $i \neq 0$.

Proposition 2.6. Let θ : $\mathbb{S} \to H\mathbb{Z}$ be the unit map, and θ^* denote the restriction of scalars functor along θ .

- (i) Let *R* be an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra. Then $(\theta^* R)$ -mod $(Sp) \simeq_O \Theta(R)$ -mod $(Ch_{\mathbb{Z}})$.
- (ii) Let \mathcal{A} be a DGA. Then \mathcal{A} -mod(Ch_Z) $\simeq_{\mathcal{O}}$ EML(\mathcal{A})-mod(Sp).

Proof. For part (i), by Theorem 2.4, we have $R \operatorname{-mod}(H\mathbb{Z}\operatorname{-mod}) \simeq_Q \Theta(R) \operatorname{-mod}(Ch_{\mathbb{Z}})$, and by Lemma 2.1, we have $R \operatorname{-mod}(H\mathbb{Z}\operatorname{-mod}) \simeq_Q (\theta^* R) \operatorname{-mod}(Sp)$. The proof of (ii) is similar.

We end this section by recalling the relationship between $H\mathbb{Z}$ -modules and generalised Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectra in the sense of [6].

Definition 2.7. A spectrum X is a generalised Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum if X is weakly equivalent (as a spectrum) to $\bigvee_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \Sigma^i HA_i$ where each A_i is an abelian group.

Proposition 2.8 [6, Proposition 5.3]. A spectrum is a generalised Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum if and only if it is weakly equivalent to an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module.

Using the previous characterisation of generalised Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectra, one obtains the following result.

Proposition 2.9. Let A be a DGA. The spectrum $\mathbb{H}A$ is a generalised Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum. In other words, there is an equivalence of underlying spectra

$$\mathbb{H}\mathcal{A}\simeq\bigvee_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}\Sigma^{i}HA_{i},$$

where $A_i = H_i(A)$, the ith homology group of A.

Proof. The spectrum $\mathbb{H}A$ is an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra and hence an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module, so the claim follows from Proposition 2.8.

We emphasise that the equivalence in the previous proposition is of underlying spectra, and is *not* an equivalence of ring spectra or $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebras.

3 | ALGEBRAIC MODEL CATEGORIES AND MORITA THEORY

In this section, we give a definition of algebraic model categories, and then use Morita theory to give some key characterisations of algebraicity which we will require. We start by recalling the definition of algebraic model categories, and then recall some tools from Morita theory [12, 43]. We then use these tools to provide several characterisations of algebraic model categories.

3.1 | Algebraicity

Recall that given a monoidal model category \mathcal{V} , another model category C is said to be a \mathcal{V} -enriched model category if the underlying category of C is enriched, tensored and cotensored over \mathcal{V} , and the model structures on C and \mathcal{V} are suitably compatible, see [17, §4.3], for instance. We write $C_{\mathcal{V}}(-, -)$ for the object of \mathcal{V} which gives the enrichment of C over \mathcal{V} .

Definition 3.1. A stable model category *C* is said to be *algebraic* if it is Quillen equivalent to a combinatorial $Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -enriched model category.

Remark 3.2. It is important to note that any $Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -enriched model category is stable by the analogue of [43, Lemma 3.5.2]. As such if *C* is algebraic, then the combinatorial $Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -enriched model category C^{alg} it is Quillen equivalent to is also stable. Therefore, the equivalence $Ho(C) \simeq Ho(C^{\text{alg}})$ on homotopy categories is necessarily triangulated.

It will also be convenient to set terminology for a weaker notion of algebraicity.

Definition 3.3. Let *C* be a stable model category. We say that *C* is *triangulated algebraic* if its homotopy category Ho(C) is triangulated equivalent to the stable category of a Frobenius category. If Ho(C) is compactly generated, *C* is triangulated algebraic if and only if Ho(C) is triangulated equivalent to the derived category D(A) of a dg-category *A* by [26, Theorem 3.8].

3.2 | Morita theory

Morita theory is a well-known tool to classify stable model categories with a compact generator in terms of modules over an endomorphism ring spectrum. However, if the stable model category is algebraic in the sense of Definition 3.1, then it can be classified using an endomorphism DGA. We start by recalling some key facts about Morita theory from [13, 43], and then use the machinery developed in [12] to prove Theorem 3.11 which states that if *C* is an algebraic model category, then it is Quillen equivalent to \mathcal{A} -mod for some well-defined DGA \mathcal{A} .

A model category *C* is said to be *spectral* if it is a Sp^{Σ} -enriched model category, where Sp^{Σ} denotes the category of symmetric spectra. Recall also that a model category *C* is said to be *presentable* if it is Quillen equivalent to a combinatorial model category [13, Theorem 4.3]. This is a mild condition on *C* which is almost always satisfied in practice. Dugger [13, Propositions 5.5 and 5.6] proved that every stable, presentable model category *C* is Quillen equivalent to a spectral model category *W* is quilten equivalent to a spectral model category *C* is Quilten equivalent to a spectral model category *W* is a spectral model category *C* is Quilten equivalent to a spectral model category which we will denote by C^{sp} .

Definition 3.4. Let *C* be a stable, presentable model category, and let *X* be a bifibrant object in *C*. We then define a (symmetric) ring spectrum hEnd(X) by

$$hEnd(X) = C_{Sp^{\Sigma}}^{sp}(\overline{X}, \overline{X}),$$

where \overline{X} is a bifibrant object of C^{sp} which corresponds to X under the Quillen equivalence $C \simeq_Q C^{\text{sp}}$, and $C^{\text{sp}}_{\text{Sp}^{\Sigma}}(-,-)$ denotes the enrichment of C^{sp} in Sp^{Σ} .

Theorem 3.5 [43, Theorem 3.1.1], [13, Theorem 8.1]. Let C be a monogenic, stable, presentable model category with a bifibrant compact generator X. Then C is Quillen equivalent to the category of module spectra over the ring spectrum hEnd(X).

Remark 3.6. As stated, the previous result appears in Dugger [13], but the key ideas go back to Schwede and Shipley [43]. More precisely, Schwede and Shipley [43, Theorem 3.8.2] show that if *C* is simplicial, cofibrantly generated, proper and stable, then it is Quillen equivalent to a spectral model category C^{sp} . One may then construct an endomorphism object as in Definition 3.4. On the other hand, Dugger [13, Propositions 5.5 and 5.6] shows that if *C* is stable and presentable, then it is Quillen equivalent to a spectral model category. Dugger's assumption of stable and presentable is more appropriate for our purposes since any algebraic model category is by definition presentable.

Now if C is algebraic, then using [12], we may construct an endomorphism ring spectrum in simplicial abelian groups denoted as

$$hEnd_{ad}(X) \in Ring(Sp^{\Sigma}(sAb))$$

for $X \in C$ as we now recall. If C is algebraic, it is Quillen equivalent to a combinatorial $Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -model category C^{alg} . The model category C^{alg} is stable, combinatorial and additive by [12, Corollary 6.9] and therefore is Quillen equivalent to a $Sp^{\Sigma}(sAb)$ -model category C^{ad} by [12, Theorem 1.3, §8.2].

Definition 3.7. Let *C* be an algebraic model category and *X* be a bifibrant object in *C*. We then define $hEnd_{ad}(X) \in Ring(Sp^{\Sigma}(sAb))$ by

$$hEnd_{ad}(X) = C_{Sp^{\Sigma}(sAb)}^{ad}(\overline{X}, \overline{X}),$$

where \overline{X} is a bifibrant object of C^{ad} which corresponds to X under the Quillen equivalence $C \simeq_Q C^{ad}$, and $C^{ad}_{Sn^{\Sigma}(sAb)}(-,-)$ denotes the enrichment of C^{ad} in $Sp^{\Sigma}(sAb)$.

Proposition 3.8 [12, Proposition 1.5]. Let *C* be an algebraic model category and $X \in C$ be a bifibrant object. Then the endomorphism ring spectrum hEnd(X) is the Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum associated to hEnd_{ad}(X), that is,

$$\theta^* U(hEnd_{ad}(X)) \simeq hEnd(X).$$

In Section 2, we recalled how to construct an Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum associated to a DGA. This construction passes through $\operatorname{Ring}(\operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}(sAb))$. Therefore, given an object of $\operatorname{Ring}(\operatorname{Sp}^{\Sigma}(sAb))$ such as $\operatorname{hEnd}_{\operatorname{ad}}(X)$ as recalled from [12] in Definition 3.7, one may produce a DGA as we now describe.

Using the functors described in (2.3), one can define functors

$$\mathbb{H}': \mathrm{DGA}_{\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathrm{Ring}(\mathrm{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\mathrm{sAb})) \text{ and } \Theta': \mathrm{Ring}(\mathrm{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\mathrm{sAb})) \to \mathrm{DGA}_{\mathbb{Z}}$$

by $\mathbb{H}' = L^{\text{mon}}cR$ and $\Theta' = Dc\phi^*N$ where *c* denotes cofibrant replacement. We note that $\mathbb{H}'\Theta'$ and $\Theta'\mathbb{H}'$ are weakly equivalent to the identity functors since the adjunctions $(L^{\text{mon}}, \phi^*N)$ and (D, R) are both Quillen equivalences [39, Proposition 2.10] as described in Section 2.

Definition 3.9. Let *C* be an algebraic model category, and *X* be a bifibrant object in *C*. We may associate a DGA $hEnd_{dga}(X)$ to *X*, defined by

$$hEnd_{dga}(X) = \Theta'(hEnd_{ad}(X)).$$

Proposition 3.10 [12, Proposition 1.7]. Let *C* be a combinatorial $\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -model category whose homotopy category is compactly generated. Then for any bifibrant object $X \in C$, we have $\operatorname{hEnd}_{\operatorname{dga}}(X) \simeq C_{\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}}(X, X)$ where $C_{\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}}(-, -)$ denotes the enrichment of *C* in $\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}$.

We can now give the aforementioned characterisation of algebraic model categories. The reader may find it helpful to refer to Figure 1 for a schematic of the relations between the different endomorphism objects before reading the following proof.

Theorem 3.11. Let *C* be a monogenic, algebraic model category, and write *X* for a bifibrant compact generator. Then *C* is Quillen equivalent to the category of modules over the DGA hEnd_{dga}(*X*).

Proof. We will show that there is a zig-zag of Quillen equivalences given by

 $\mathcal{C} \simeq_O \operatorname{hEnd}(X)\operatorname{-mod} \simeq_O \theta^* \mathbb{H}(\operatorname{hEnd}_{\operatorname{dga}}(X))\operatorname{-mod} \simeq_O \operatorname{hEnd}_{\operatorname{dga}}(X)\operatorname{-mod}.$

The first Quillen equivalence holds by Theorem 3.5 and the final Quillen equivalence by Proposition 2.6. Therefore, it remains to justify the second Quillen equivalence. We have

$\theta^* \mathbb{H}(\mathrm{hEnd}_{\mathrm{dga}}(X)) = \theta^* \mathbb{H}\Theta'(\mathrm{hEnd}_{\mathrm{ad}}(X))$	by definition of $hEnd_{dga}(X)$
$= \theta^* U \mathbb{H}' \Theta' (h \mathrm{End}_{\mathrm{ad}}(X))$	since $\mathbb{H} = U\mathbb{H}'$ by definition
$\simeq \theta^* U(\text{hEnd}_{\text{ad}}(X))$	as Θ' and \mathbb{H}' are inverse equivalences
\simeq hEnd(X)-mod	by Proposition 3.8,

and hence, the second Quillen equivalence holds.

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathrm{hEnd}(X) & \xleftarrow{\mathrm{forget}} & \mathrm{hEnd}_{\mathrm{ad}}(X) & \xleftarrow{\Theta'} & \mathrm{hEnd}_{\mathrm{dga}}(X) & \xleftarrow{\widetilde{\mathrm{lf}\ C \ is}} & \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}}(X,X) \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ \mathrm{Ring}(\mathrm{Sp}^{\Sigma}) & & & & & & & & \\ \mathrm{Ring}(\mathrm{Sp}^{\Sigma}(\mathrm{sAb})) & & & & & & & & \\ \end{array} \right) \\ \end{array}$$

FIGURE 1 The various endomorphism objects associated to a bifibrant object *X* in an algebraic model category *C* and how they relate to one another.

11

By combining the previous theorem with Proposition 3.10, one obtains the following corollary.

Corollary 3.12. Let *C* be a monogenic, combinatorial, $Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -enriched model category, and write *X* for a bifibrant compact generator. Then *C* is Quillen equivalent to the category of modules over the $DGA C_{Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}}(X,X)$.

3.3 | Detecting algebraicity

We can now use the Morita theory results from above to give several criteria for when stable model categories are algebraic. Firstly, we give the following direct consequence of Theorem 3.11.

Theorem 3.13. Let C be a monogenic, stable model category. Then C is algebraic if and only if C is Quillen equivalent to A-mod for a DGA A.

Proposition 3.14. Let C be a monogenic, stable model category. If C is algebraic, then it is triangulated algebraic.

Proof. By Theorem 3.13, if *C* is algebraic, then *C* is Quillen equivalent to A-mod for a DGA A and the derived equivalence is triangulated since the zig-zag of Quillen equivalences of Theorem 3.11 only passes through stable model categories. Hence, *C* is triangulated algebraic.

Theorem 3.15. Let C be a monogenic, stable model category and write X for a bifibrant compact generator. Then C is algebraic if and only if hEnd(X) is weakly equivalent to an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra as a ring spectrum.

Proof. If *C* is algebraic, then Proposition 3.8 shows that hEnd(X) is weakly equivalent to the $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra $UhEnd_{ad}(X)$ as a ring spectrum. Conversely, if hEnd(X) is weakly equivalent to an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra *R* as a ring spectrum, then

 $C \simeq_O hEnd(X)$ -mod $\simeq_O R$ -mod $\simeq_O \Theta(R)$ -mod

by Theorems 3.5 and 2.4. The object $\Theta(R)$ is a DGA and therefore by Theorem 3.13, it follows that *C* is algebraic.

In the case when *C* is the category of modules over a ring spectrum, we can give more explicit versions of the previous results.

Corollary 3.16. Let *R* be a ring spectrum. Then *R*-mod is algebraic if and only if *R* is weakly equivalent to an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra as a ring spectrum. In particular, if *R*-mod is algebraic, then *R* is a generalised Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum in the sense of Definition 2.7.

Proof. The category *R*-mod is spectral with enrichment in spectra given by $\text{Hom}_R(-, -)$. Therefore, the endomorphism object hEnd(R) associated to the compact generator *R* is just *R*. The first claim then follows from Theorem 3.15. As for the second claim, if *R*-mod is algebraic, then the

first part of this corollary tells us that *R* is weakly equivalent to an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra and hence an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module, and the result then follows from Proposition 2.8.

Remark 3.17. It is reasonable to wonder if in Theorem 3.15, it is instead enough to require that hEnd(X) is an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module (since it is naturally a ring spectrum). In Theorem 5.14, we give an example which shows that this is false.

4 | DETECTING ALGEBRAICITY VIA Ho(Sp)-ACTIONS

For any stable model category C, there is an action of Ho(Sp) on Ho(C). In this section, we will show that being algebraic implies that this Ho(Sp)-action factors over a D(\mathbb{Z})-action. Furthermore, we will consider the notion of a trivial Ho(Sp)-action on Ho(C) and explore how these concepts interact.

4.1 | Actions of Ho(Sp) and $D(\mathbb{Z})$

A useful structure to have on a stable model category *C* is a tensor with spectra $X \wedge A$ where $X \in C$ and $A \in Sp$, and mapping spectra $Hom(X, Y) \in Sp$ behaving in a homotopically useful way. This would mean asking for *C* to be a 'spectral' model category, which is a very strong assumption. However, it has been shown by [27] that such a structure at least exists up to homotopy.

Theorem 4.1 [27, Theorem 6.3]. For every stable model category C, there is a bifunctor

 $-\wedge^{L} - : \operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{C}) \times \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{Sp}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{C})$

making Ho(C) a closed module category over the stable homotopy category Ho(Sp) in the sense of [21, Definition 4.1.6]. For $X \in C$, we call the right adjoint

RHom(X, -): $Ho(\mathcal{C}) \to Ho(Sp)$

the homotopy mapping spectrum functor.

This action satisfies the expected properties, such as the following.

- The functor $\wedge^L -$ is exact in both variables.
- We have $X \wedge^L \mathbb{S} \cong X$ for all $X \in Ho(\mathcal{C})$.
- A Quillen functor $\mathcal{C} \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}$ induces a Ho(Sp)-module functor Ho(\mathcal{C}) \longrightarrow Ho(\mathcal{D}).
- In particular, a Quillen equivalence induces an equivalence of Ho(Sp)-modules.

Remark 4.2. If *C* is itself a spectral model category, then the module structure from above theorem agrees with the action derived from the spectral structure. This means that if *C* is spectral and presentable, then hEnd(X) from Definition 3.4 is weakly equivalent to RHom(X,X).

13

In light of the relationship between algebraicity and $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebras explored in the previous section, we now explore when the action of Ho(Sp) factors over D(\mathbb{Z}).

Proposition 4.3. Let *C* be a stable model category. If the Ho(Sp)-module structure from Theorem 4.1 factors over $D(\mathbb{Z})$, then the homotopy mapping spectra RHom(X, Y) are $H\mathbb{Z}$ -modules for all $X, Y \in C$, and hence, are generalised Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectra in the sense of Definition 2.7.

Proof. Firstly, we know by [39, Proposition 2.10] that $Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is monoidally Quillen equivalent to $H\mathbb{Z}$ -mod. Thus, having $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action is equivalent to the Ho(Sp)-action on *C* factoring over Ho($H\mathbb{Z}$ -mod) as follows. Consider the diagram



By taking right adjoints, this is equivalent to having the following commutative diagram:



where the arrow $Ho(H\mathbb{Z}\text{-mod}) \rightarrow Ho(Sp)$ is the forgetful functor. Thus, we can see that if the Ho(Sp)-action factors over a $Ho(H\mathbb{Z}\text{-mod})$ -action, the homotopy mapping spectra RHom(X, Y) are $H\mathbb{Z}$ -modules for all X, Y in C. The final claim holds by applying Proposition 2.8.

Remark 4.4. Conversely, by unravelling the definition, to obtain a $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action one needs the following.

- The homotopy mapping spectra RHom(X, Y) are $H\mathbb{Z}$ -modules for all X and Y.
- The composition map $R\text{Hom}(Y,Z) \wedge_{H\mathbb{Z}}^{L} R\text{Hom}(X,Y) \rightarrow R\text{Hom}(X,Z)$ is a map of $H\mathbb{Z}$ -modules.
- The unit map $\mathbb{S} \to R\mathrm{Hom}(X, X)$ factors over $H\mathbb{Z}$.
- For f: A → B in C, the induced maps of spectra RHom(X, f) and RHom(f, Y) are HZ-module maps.

We now show that algebraic model categories have a $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action.

Proposition 4.5. *Let C be an algebraic model category. Then the* Ho(Sp)*-module structure factors over* $D(\mathbb{Z})$ *.*

Proof. Without loss of generality, we may assume that C is a $Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -model category rather than just Quillen equivalent to one, as Quillen equivalences induce isomorphic Ho(Sp)-module structures on the respective homotopy categories. As C is a $Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -model category by assumption, Ho(C) is a closed D(\mathbb{Z})-module, so the claim follows.

Corollary 4.6. A Quillen functor $F : C \longrightarrow D$ between algebraic model categories induces a functor $Ho(C) \longrightarrow Ho(D)$ of closed $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -module categories, that is, the diagram



commutes.

4.2 | Trivial actions

The action of the stable homotopy category induces an action of the stable homotopy groups $\pi_*(S)$ on the morphism groups in Ho(C)

$$\pi_*(\mathbb{S}) \otimes [X,Y]^{\mathcal{C}}_* \longrightarrow [X,Y]^{\mathcal{C}}_*$$

given by $\alpha \otimes \varphi = \varphi \wedge^L \alpha$. Note that the stable homotopy groups act from the left, see [41, Construction 2.4], and that the action is associative and unital. We can describe this action explicitly using mapping spectra.

Lemma 4.7. Let $\varphi \in [X, Y]_k^C$, and $\alpha \in \pi_i(\mathbb{S})$, $i \ge 0$. Then $\alpha \otimes \varphi \in [X, Y]_{i+k}^C$ is adjoint to the element

$$\alpha \circ f \in \pi_{i+k}(\operatorname{RHom}(X, Y)),$$

where $f \in \pi_k(RHom(X, Y))$ is adjoint to φ .

Proof. Write \wedge instead of \wedge^L . By adjunction, we have that

$$\pi_k(R\text{Hom}(X,Y)) \cong [\Sigma^k X, Y]^C$$
,

so $\varphi \in [\Sigma^k X, Y]^C$ then corresponds to an element $f \in \pi_k(RHom(X, Y))$. Thus,

$$\varphi \wedge \alpha \in [\Sigma^{i+k}X, Y]^C$$

By adjunction, this element $\varphi \wedge \alpha$ corresponds to an element

$$\alpha \otimes f \in \pi_{i+k}(R\mathrm{Hom}(X,Y)).$$

Let us now specify what this element $\alpha \otimes f$ is. The adjunction isomorphism gives us

$$\varphi = \varepsilon \circ (X \wedge f) \colon \Sigma^k X \xrightarrow{X \wedge f} X \wedge R \mathrm{Hom}(X, Y) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} Y,$$

where ϵ is the counit. The element α now acts on φ as

$$p \wedge \alpha = (\epsilon \circ (X \wedge f)) \wedge \alpha$$
$$= \epsilon \circ ((X \wedge f) \wedge \alpha)$$
$$= \epsilon \circ (X \wedge (\alpha \circ f)).$$

The second equality comes from the fact that the action is central in the sense that

$$(\varphi_2 \circ \varphi_1) \land \alpha = (\varphi_2 \land \alpha) \circ \varphi_1 = \varphi_2 \circ (\varphi_1 \land \alpha).$$

Furthermore, the last equality uses the associativity of the action \land ; however, we have to let α act on *f* from the left rather than the right in the last step.

By the same construction, we see that $\epsilon \circ (X \land (\alpha \circ f))$ is also adjoint to $\alpha \circ f$. Therefore, we can conclude that

$$\alpha \circ f = \alpha \otimes f$$

as claimed.

Corollary 4.8. Let $\alpha \in \pi_i(\mathbb{S})$ for i > 0. If the mapping spectrum $\operatorname{RHom}(X, Y)$ is a generalised Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum in the sense of Definition 2.7, then $\alpha \otimes f = 0$ for $f \in [X, Y]_*^C$.

Proof. If *E* is an Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum (i.e. a spectrum with homotopy groups concentrated in one degree), then $\alpha \circ f = 0$ for any $\alpha \in \pi_i(\mathbb{S})$, i > 0 and $f \in \pi_*(E)$ because of degree reasons. Therefore, the same is true if *E* is a wedge of suspensions of Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectra.

Given a non-zero $f \in [X, Y]^C$ and $\alpha \in \pi_i(\mathbb{S})$, one sees that $\alpha \otimes f = (\alpha \otimes id_X) \circ (id_{\mathbb{S}} \otimes f)$. Therefore, $\alpha \otimes f = 0$ if and only if $X \wedge^L \alpha = \alpha \otimes id_X = 0$. As such, the previous corollary suggests the following definition.

Definition 4.9. We say that Ho(Sp) *acts trivially* on Ho(C) if for all $X \in$ Ho(C) and $\alpha \in \pi_i(S)$, i > 0, we have $X \wedge^L \alpha = 0$.

We now record how trivial action relates to a $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action and to being algebraic.

Corollary 4.10. If the Ho(Sp)-action on Ho(C) factors over a D(\mathbb{Z})-action, then Ho(Sp) acts trivially on Ho(C). In particular, if C is an algebraic model category, then Ho(Sp) acts trivially on Ho(C).

Proof. By Lemma 4.7, the action of $\pi_*(\mathbb{S})$ on mapping objects is given by precomposition with the adjoint maps. If the Ho(Sp)-action factors over $D(\mathbb{Z})$, this means that the mapping spectra are products of Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectra by Proposition 4.3, and thus, by Corollary 4.8, the action is trivial. If *C* is algebraic, then it has $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action by Proposition 4.5, so the second claim follows.

We can reduce the definition of trivial action to testing on a compact generator.

Proposition 4.11. Let C be a monogenic, stable, presentable model category with a bifibrant compact generator G. Then Ho(Sp) acts trivially on Ho(C) if and only if $G \wedge^L \alpha = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \pi_k(\mathbb{S})$, k > 0.

Proof. Since *C* is stable and presentable, it is Quillen equivalent to a spectral model category by [13, Propositions 5.5 and 5.6]. As Quillen equivalences induce equivalent Ho(Sp)-module structures, we may without loss of generality assume that *C* is spectral.

By Morita theory (cf. Theorem 3.5), we have a Quillen equivalence.

$$\mathcal{C} \xrightarrow[]{ c \to hEnd(G)G} Mod-hEnd(G).$$

Now let $X \in C$. Since Quillen equivalences induce equivalent Ho(Sp)-module structures, we have $X \wedge^L \alpha = 0$ if and only if $C_{\text{Sp}^{\Sigma}}(G, X) \wedge^L \alpha = 0$.

Since $G \wedge^L \alpha = 0$ by assumption, we also have

hEnd(G)
$$\wedge^L \alpha = C_{Sp^{\Sigma}}(G, G) \wedge^L \alpha = 0.$$

But $C_{Sp^{\Sigma}}(G, X) \wedge \alpha$ is a retract of $C_{Sp^{\Sigma}}(G, X) \wedge C_{Sp^{\Sigma}}(G, G) \wedge \alpha$, as the spectrum $C_{Sp^{\Sigma}}(G, X)$ is a module over $C_{Sp^{\Sigma}}(G, G)$. This implies that α also acts trivially on $C_{Sp^{\Sigma}}(G, X)$ and therefore on X, as required.

As well as reducing to checking trivial actions on a compact generator of Ho(*C*), it is natural to ask whether or not we can reduce to checking just a small number of elements of $\pi_*(\mathbb{S})$. By [8], the whole of $\pi_*(\mathbb{S})$ is 'generated' by the elements of Adams filtration 1 using multiplication and higher Toda brackets: every $\theta \in \pi_*(\mathbb{S})$ that is not a Hopf element can be written as a higher order Toda bracket of matrices with values in (smaller degrees of) $\pi_*(\mathbb{S})$. Considering localisation at each prime separately, for p = 2, the elements of Adams filtration 1 are the Hopf elements $2 \in \pi_0(\mathbb{S}), \eta \in \pi_1(\mathbb{S}), \nu \in \pi_3(\mathbb{S})$ and $\sigma \in \pi_7(\mathbb{S})$. For odd primes, the only ones are $p \in \pi_0(\mathbb{S}), \alpha_1 \in \pi_{2p-3}(\mathbb{S})$.

This suggests the following definition.

Definition 4.12. We say that Ho(Sp) *acts essentially trivially* on Ho(*C*) if for all $X \in$ Ho(*C*) and $\alpha \in \pi_i(\mathbb{S})$, i > 0, of Adams filtration 1, we have $X \wedge^L \alpha = 0$. By the analogue of Proposition 4.11, if *C* is monogenic, this is equivalent to $G \wedge^L \alpha = 0$ for a compact generator *G*, and $\alpha \in \pi_i(\mathbb{S})$, i > 0, of Adams filtration 1.

We make the following conjecture relating essentially trivial actions with trivial actions. We prove a special case of this as Theorem 4.18.

Conjecture 4.13. Let C be a stable model category. Then Ho(Sp) acts trivially on Ho(C) if and only if Ho(Sp) acts essentially trivially on Ho(C).

Remark 4.14. One might think that the above conjecture can be proved using Cohen's theorem. However, this method fails mainly because of how the indeterminacy of n-fold Toda brackets behave. More precisely, Cohen's theorem [8, Theorem 4.2] says that if $\theta \in \pi_*(S)$ is not a Hopf element, then there is a Toda bracket of the form

$$\langle f_1, f_2, \dots f_n \rangle$$

containing θ , where

$$G_1 \xrightarrow{f_1} G_2 \xrightarrow{f_2} \cdots \xrightarrow{f_n} G_{n+1},$$

 G_1 and G_{n+1} are spheres and the other G_i are wedges of spheres. In particular, the f_i can be represented as matrices with entries in $\pi_*(\mathbb{S})$ of degree strictly less than that of θ . We then have that

$$X \wedge^{L} \theta \in \left\langle X \wedge^{L} f_{1}, X \wedge^{L} f_{2}, \dots X \wedge^{L} f_{n} \right\rangle.$$

It would then be the goal to prove that $X \wedge^L \theta = 0$ if $X \wedge^L \alpha = 0$ for all Hopf elements α by induction on degree. At p = 2, assuming that $X \wedge^L \eta$, $X \wedge^L \nu$ and $X \wedge^L \sigma$ are all trivial, one can quickly prove that $X \wedge^L \theta = 0$ for all θ in degrees 1 to 7. (At odd primes, the situation is even simpler.) Thus, induction tells us that $X \wedge^L \theta$ is an element of a Toda bracket whose entries are zeros and powers of p. As such, this Toda bracket contains zero. Sadly, this is not enough to conclude that $X \wedge^L \theta$ itself has to be zero, as a long bracket as above can still have non-trivial indeterminacy. (For example, the bracket < 2, 0, 0, 2 > in Ho(Sp) contains η^2 .)

4.3 | Detecting trivial actions

In this section, we give three criteria for checking whether Ho(Sp) acts trivially on Ho(C). Firstly, in some cases, we can detect trivial Ho(Sp)-action already from homotopy groups.

Lemma 4.15. Let *R* be a ring spectrum and $\iota : \mathbb{S} \longrightarrow R$ its unit map. If $\iota_* : \pi_*(\mathbb{S}) \longrightarrow \pi_*(R)$ is zero in positive degrees, then Ho(*R*-mod) has trivial Ho(Sp)-action.

Proof. Let $\mu : R \wedge^L R \longrightarrow R$ be the multiplication map of *R*. By Proposition 4.11, we want to check that $R \wedge^L \alpha = 0$ for $\alpha \in \pi_k(\mathbb{S}), k > 0$. We have

$$\mathrm{id} \simeq \mu \circ \iota \colon R \cong R \wedge^L \mathbb{S} \longrightarrow R \wedge^L R \longrightarrow R$$

by definition. Therefore, for $\alpha \in \pi_k(\mathbb{S})$, k > 0, $R \wedge^L \alpha \simeq R \wedge^L (\mu \circ \iota \circ \alpha) \simeq R \wedge^L (\mu \circ \iota_*(\alpha))$, which is zero by assumption.

Corollary 4.16. Let *R* be a ring spectrum with $\pi_k(R)$ torsion-free for k > 0. Then Ho(*R*-mod) has trivial Ho(Sp)-action.

Corollary 4.17. For R = MU, BP, E(n), KU and their connective covers, Ho(R-mod) has trivial Ho(Sp)-action.

Our second criterion gives a positive answer to Conjecture 4.13 in the case when the homotopy mapping spectra are E(1)-local at an odd prime.

Theorem 4.18. Let *C* be a stable model category for which the homotopy mapping spectra RHom(X, Y) are E(1)-local for all X and Y in C, for some fixed odd prime p. If $\alpha_1 \in \pi_{2p-3}(L_1 S)$ acts trivially, then Ho(Sp) acts trivially on Ho(C).

Proof. If the homotopy mapping spectra are all E(1)-local, then the action of Ho(Sp) on Ho(C) factors over the E(1)-local stable homotopy category Ho(L_1 Sp) [2, Theorem 7.8], and we write $[A, B]^{L_1}$ Sp for morphisms in Ho(L_1 Sp). Therefore, it is sufficient to show that Ho(L_1 Sp) acts trivially on Ho(C), because the action of the stable homotopy groups factors as



By assumption, $X \wedge^L \theta = 0$ for all $\theta \in \pi_i(L_1 S)$, i = 1, ..., 4p - 6 as the only non-trivial homotopy in this range is the group $\pi_{2p-3}(L_1 S) = \mathbb{Z}/p$, which is generated by α_1 . We have short exact sequences of the form

$$0 \longrightarrow \pi_{i+1}(L_1 \mathbb{S})/(p) \longrightarrow [M, L_1 \mathbb{S}]_i = [M, \mathbb{S}]_i^{L_1 \text{Sp}} \longrightarrow \Gamma_p(\pi_i(L_1 \mathbb{S})) \longrightarrow 0$$

where *M* denotes the mod *p* Moore spectrum and $\Gamma_p G$ the *p*-torsion of an abelian group *G*. For degree reasons, these short exact sequences take the form

$$0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow G \longrightarrow G \longrightarrow 0$$
 or $0 \longrightarrow G \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0$

in low degrees. Therefore, we can conclude that $[M, S]_i^{L_1 \text{Sp}} = 0$ in degrees $0 \le i \le 2p - 5$. In addition, $[M, S]_{2p-4}^{L_1 \text{Sp}}$ is generated by $\alpha_1 \circ \text{pinch}$, and $[M, S]_{2p-3}^{L_1 \text{Sp}}$ is generated by an element *A* with $A \circ \text{incl} = \alpha_1$.

We have a v_1 -self map $v_1 : \Sigma^{2p-2}M \to M$ which is an isomorphism in E(1)-homology as M is rationally trivial. Therefore, there is a commutative diagram.

$$\begin{split} & [M, \mathbb{S}]_{i}^{L_{1}\mathrm{Sp}} \xrightarrow{X \wedge^{L} -} [X \wedge M, X]_{i}^{L_{1}\mathrm{Sp}} \\ & \stackrel{v_{1}^{*}}{\longrightarrow} \cong \downarrow^{(X \wedge^{L}v_{1})^{*}} \\ & [M, \mathbb{S}]_{i+2p-2}^{L_{1}\mathrm{Sp}} \xrightarrow{X \wedge^{L} -} [X \wedge M, X]_{i+2p-2}^{L_{1}\mathrm{Sp}} \end{split}$$

We have that $[M, S]_i^{L_1Sp} = 0$ in degrees $0 \le i \le 2p - 5$; therefore, the top arrow is zero in those degrees. In degree 2p - 4, we have that

$$X \wedge^{L} (\alpha_{1} \circ \text{pinch}) = (X \wedge^{L} \alpha_{1}) \circ (X \wedge^{L} \text{pinch}) = 0 \circ (X \wedge^{L} \text{pinch}) = 0$$

by assumption. In degree 2p - 3, we have $X \wedge^L A = 0$ as by our previous calculation, $X \wedge^L A$ is zero if and only if $X \wedge^L \alpha_1$ is, because precomposition with the inclusion map induces an isomorphism on the relevant homotopy groups. Thus, all in all, the top arrow is zero for $0 \le i \le 2p - 3$. As the left-hand arrow is an isomorphism, the bottom arrow has to be zero to make the diagram commute. Iterating this step implies that $X \wedge^L \theta = 0$ for all θ in the non-negative degrees of $[M, \mathbb{S}]^{L_1 \text{Sp}}$. Altogether, we have that $X \wedge^L - \text{acts trivially on the mod } p$ parts of $\pi_i(L_1 \mathbb{S})$, $i \ne 0$, and also the

19

rational parts of $\pi_i(L_1 S)$, $i \neq 0$, which are trivial. Therefore, $X \wedge^L \theta$ is zero for all $\theta \in \pi_i(L_1 S)$, $i \neq 0$ as desired.

Remark 4.19. A similar argument shows that this is also true for the negative degree elements; indeed, the bottom map is zero for $i + 2p - 2 \ge 0$, so the top map is also the zero map in this range and iterating this gives the claim. It is not necessary for the proof of Theorem 4.18 as we only require the claim for positive degrees, but we leave this here in case of a trivial $\pi_*(L_1 S)$ -action being required for future results.

Let us now turn to another source of examples of trivial action.

Definition 4.20. A set of ring spectra $\{R_i\}_{i \in I}$ detects nilpotence if a map $f : \Sigma^k A \longrightarrow A$ in Ho(Sp) for a finite spectrum A is nilpotent if and only if $R_i \wedge^L f$ is zero for all i.

Proposition 4.21. Let $\{R_i\}_{i \in I}$ be a set of ring spectra which detects nilpotence. Then Ho $(R_i$ -mod) has trivial Ho(Sp)-action for all *i*.

Proof. By Proposition 4.11, Ho(R_i -mod) has trivial Ho(Sp)-action if and only if $R_i \wedge^L \theta = 0$ for all $\theta \in \pi_i(\mathbb{S})$, i > 0. Nishida's nilpotence theorem [28] shows that all positive degree elements of $\pi_*(\mathbb{S})$ are nilpotent and the claim follows.

We will use the previous lemma to discuss examples relating to Morava *K*-theory and complex cobordism in the next section.

5 | EXAMPLES AND APPLICATIONS

In this section, we explore trivial actions and algebraicity in various examples arising in stable homotopy theory. Firstly, we explore the case of E(1)-local spectra together with exotic models for it, and then, we turn to other examples arising from chromatic homotopy theory.

Most of the examples we are dealing with are *p*-local stable model categories in the sense that the action of Ho(Sp)-action factors over the *p*-local stable homotopy category Ho(Sp_(p)). In this case, one sees that *C* has a trivial Ho(Sp)-action if and only if the positive degree elements of $\pi_*(\mathbb{S}_{(p)})$ act trivially. Similarly, *C* has an essentially trivial Ho(Sp)-action if and only if the element $\alpha_1 \in \pi_{2p-3}(\mathbb{S})$ acts trivially (*p* > 2), or if the Hopf elements η , ν and σ act trivially (*p* = 2).

5.1 + E(1)-local spectra and exotic models

In this section, we study our algebraicity results in the case of E(1)-local spectra L_1 Sp and exotic models for it. Recall that a stable model category C is said to be an *exotic model* for L_1 Sp if it is not Quillen equivalent to L_1 Sp but does carry a triangulated equivalence as in the proposition below.

Proposition 5.1. Let Φ : Ho(L_1 Sp) $\xrightarrow{\sim}$ Ho(C) be a triangulated equivalence that is not derived from a Quillen functor, and let p > 2. Then Ho(Sp) acts essentially trivially on Ho(C).

Proof. By [36, Proposition 6.7], $X \wedge \alpha_1 = 0$ for $X = \Phi(L_1S^0)$. As X is a compact generator of Ho(C), the claim follows from Proposition 4.11.

Remark 5.2. One might imagine that Theorem 4.18 can be applied in the previous corollary to deduce that Ho(Sp) acts trivially on Ho(C). However, [36] shows that the mapping spectra in any exotic model are *not* E(1)-local.

Note that the existence of such a triangulated equivalence Φ for odd primes has been shown by [14, 31, 32] (the latter two papers correcting some gaps in the former). Next, we recall the definition of Franke's exotic model for E(1)-local spectra; we refer the reader to [3, 14, 37] for more details. We then turn to examining the exotic model in more detail with regard to algebraicity.

Given a Grothendieck abelian category \mathcal{A} , a self-equivalence $T : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ and an integer N, a *twisted chain complex (of period N)* is a chain complex $X \in Ch(\mathcal{A})$ together with an isomorphism $\alpha_X : TX \to \Sigma^N X$. A map of twisted chain complexes $f : X \to Y$ is a chain map which is compatible with the specified isomorphisms α_X and α_Y . We denote this category by $Ch^{(T,N)}(\mathcal{A})$. There is an adjunction.

$$\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{A}) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{P}} \operatorname{Ch}^{(T,N)}(\mathcal{A}).$$
 (5.3)

It is also helpful to note that if \mathcal{A} is monoidal with unit object 1, then (under some mild hypotheses) the category $\operatorname{Ch}^{(T,N)}(\mathcal{A})$ is isomorphic to the category of $\mathbb{P}1$ -modules in $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{A})$.

Fix an odd prime *p*. Franke's exotic model for E(1)-local spectra is the category of twisted chain complexes of period 1 over the abelian category $\mathcal{A} = E(1)_*E(1)$ -comod, of comodules over the flat Hopf algebroid $E(1)_*E(1)$. We denote this category by $\operatorname{Fr}_{1,p}$. This category admits several model structures, see [3] for details. Firstly, $\operatorname{Fr}_{1,p}$ admits an injective model structure and this presents the homotopy theory of interest. As such, we will refer to $\operatorname{Fr}_{1,p}$ with the injective model structure as 'Franke's category'. However, the injective model structure is not monoidal in general (nor $\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -enriched), and so for our purposes, we are interested in the quasi-projective model structure, which is Quillen equivalent to the injective model structure as well as a monoidal model category. We briefly recall the construction of the quasi-projective model structure as in [3, §6] now.

The category $Ch(E(1)_*E(1)$ -comod) admits a relative projective model structure in the sense of [7] by taking the projective class generated by the dualisable $E(1)_*E(1)$ -comodules, see also [23] for more details. This can be right-lifted along the adjunction (5.3) to produce the relative projective model structure on $Fr_{1,p}$. This model structure has fewer weak equivalences than the quasi-isomorphisms, so it does not present Franke's exotic model. Instead, left Bousfield localising the relative projective model structure on $Fr_{1,p}$ produces the quasi-projective model structure, in which the weak equivalences are the quasi-isomorphisms.

Proposition 5.4. Franke's category $Fr_{1,p}$ is an algebraic model category.

Proof. Firstly, the underlying category of $\operatorname{Fr}_{1,p}$ is locally presentable by [1, Theorem 5.5.9] as $\operatorname{Ch}(E(1)_*E(1)\operatorname{-comod})$ is locally presentable. The quasi-projective model structure on $\operatorname{Fr}_{1,p}$ is cofibrantly generated by construction, and hence is combinatorial. We write $\operatorname{Hom}(-, -)$ for the internal hom in $\operatorname{Fr}_{1,p}$ and note that this also provides the enrichment in $\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ via the forgetful functor. Now, let $i : A \hookrightarrow X$ be a cofibration and $p : E \twoheadrightarrow B$ be a fibration in the quasi-projective

model structure on $Fr_{1,p}$. We must show that

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(i^*, p_*) \colon \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(X, E) \to \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(X, B) \times_{\operatorname{Hom}(A, B)} \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(A, E)$$

is a fibration in $Ch_{\mathbb{Z}}$ which is moreover acyclic if either *i* or *p* is acyclic.

Since the quasi-projective model structure on $\operatorname{Fr}_{1,p}$ is monoidal by [3, Corollary 6.7], we have that $\operatorname{Hom}(i^*, p_*)$ is a quasi-projective fibration which is acyclic if either *i* or *p* is. By definition, $\operatorname{Hom}(i^*, p_*)$ is also a quasi-projective fibration in $\operatorname{Ch}(E(1)_*E(1)$ -comod) which is acyclic if either *i* or *p* is. It follows that it is also a fibration in the relative projective model structure which is acyclic if either *i* or *p* is, since the quasi-projective model is a left Bousfield localisation of the relative projective model. Any fibration (resp., weak equivalence) in the relative projective model is a surjection (resp., quasi-isomorphism) by [23, Proposition 2.1.5]. Therefore, $\operatorname{Hom}(i^*, p_*)$ is a surjection which is a quasi-isomorphism if either *i* or *p* is acyclic, as required.

We have now shown that the quasi-projective model structure on $\operatorname{Fr}_{1,p}$ is combinatorial, $\operatorname{Ch}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ enriched, and is Quillen equivalent to the injective model structure. Therefore, the injective model
structure on $\operatorname{Fr}_{1,p}$ is indeed algebraic.

We now summarise the relationships between the various versions of algebraicity studied above for E(1)-local spectra and Franke's category.

Example 5.5 (*E*(1)-local spectra). Consider the category of *E*(1)-local spectra at a fixed prime $p \ge 3$. Since there is a triangulated equivalence $Ho(L_1Sp) \simeq Ho(Fr_{1,p})$, one sees that L_1Sp is triangulated algebraic. As

$$H\mathbb{F}_p \wedge L_1 \mathbb{S} \simeq L_1(H\mathbb{F}_p) \simeq 0$$

(see [20, §5.2]), L_1 is not an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module. If it were, then by Proposition 2.8,

$$L_1 \mathbb{S} \simeq \bigvee_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \Sigma^i H \pi_i (L_1 \mathbb{S}),$$

and therefore, smashing with $H\mathbb{F}_p$ could not be trivial as, for example, $\pi_{2p-3}(L_1\mathbb{S}) = \mathbb{Z}/p$. It then follows from Corollary 3.16 and Proposition 4.3 that L_1 Sp is neither algebraic nor has $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action. Finally, Ho(Sp) does not act trivially on Ho(L_1 Sp) as α_1 acts non-trivially.

Example 5.6 (Franke's exotic model $Fr_{1,p}$). Consider Franke's exotic model $Fr_{1,p}$ for E(1)-local spectra at an odd prime. This is algebraic by Proposition 5.4, and hence is triangulated algebraic, has $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action and has trivial Ho(Sp) action by Proposition 3.14, Proposition 4.5 and Corollary 4.10 respectively.

Example 5.7 (General exotic models for E(1)-local spectra). Finally, we consider the case of a general exotic model for L_1 Sp at an odd prime; that is, we consider a stable model category C which has a triangulated equivalence Φ : Ho(L_1 Sp) \rightarrow Ho(C) that is not derived from a Quillen functor. The existence of Φ shows that C is triangulated equivalent to Franke's category Fr_{1,p} and hence C is triangulated algebraic. Proposition 5.1 shows that C also has essentially trivial Ho(Sp)-action. Unlike the case of Franke's exotic model described in Example 5.6, we do not know whether an arbitrary exotic model of L_1 Sp is algebraic or has a D(\mathbb{Z})-action.

5.2 | Morava K-theory

In this example, we consider the category of K(n)-modules. We work at some implicit prime p.

Let K(n) denote the Morava *K*-theory spectrum for $0 < n < \infty$. We see that K(n) is not an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module since $H\mathbb{F}_p \wedge K(n) \simeq 0$ [33, Theorem 2.1(i)]; if K(n) were an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module spectrum, then its underlying spectrum would be a wedge of suspensions of $H\mathbb{F}_p$ by Proposition 2.8, and in particular $H\mathbb{F}_p \wedge K(n)$ would be non-trivial.

Since $\{K(n)\}_{0 \le n \le \infty}$ detects nilpotence by [24, Theorem 3], the homotopy category of modules over the *n*th Morava *K*-theory *K*(*n*) has a trivial action of the stable homotopy category by Proposition 4.21. However, we just noted (and will calculate explicitly for n = 1 later in this subsection) that for $0 < n < \infty$ that K(n) is not an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module. Therefore, by Corollary 3.16 and Proposition 4.3, we see that K(n)-mod is neither algebraic, nor has a $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action. This illustrates that being algebraic and having $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action are both stronger properties than having trivial Ho(Sp)-action.

We also know that

 π_* : Ho(K(n)-mod) $\longrightarrow D(K(n)_*)$

is a triangulated equivalence. This is because K(n) is a 'field' in the sense that all modules over K(n) are equivalent to a wedge of suspensions of K(n) itself [34], while, on the other side, the analogue holds for a differential graded module over $K(n)_*$. Of course, $K(n)_*$ -mod is algebraic, whereas we just illustrated why K(n)-mod is not, which, in particular, means that they are not Quillen equivalent, as pointed out by [41, Remark 2.5]. The triangulated equivalence $Ho(K(n)-mod) \simeq D(K(n)_*)$ makes K(n)-mod triangulated algebraic.

We can see the extent to which K(1)-mod fails at being algebraic in the following obstruction theory.

Given a spectrum E, we would like to examine if there is a map from an Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum A with the correct homotopy groups to E. There is always a map from the respective Moore spectrum to E. An Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum is constructed from a Moore spectrum by attaching cells, and we can see whether an already existing map from a CW-spectrum to E lifts over the CW-spectrum with new cells attached. Note that we are just considering maps of spectra, not ring maps.

In more detail, we would like to see if there is a map

 $\Sigma^i H(\pi_i(E)) \longrightarrow E$

inducing a π_i -isomorphism. If there is such a map for all *i*, then it assembles to a weak equivalence

$$\bigvee_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}\Sigma^iH(\pi_i(E))\longrightarrow E$$

Without loss of generality, let i = 0 and define $A := H(\pi_i(E))$. Then $A = \operatorname{colim}_k A^{(k)}$, where $A^{(1)}$ is the $\pi_0(E)$ -Moore spectrum, and $A^{(k+1)}$ is obtained from $A^{(k)}$ via attaching (k + 1)-cells to kill the *k*-homotopy groups of $A^{(k)}$. In other words, we have the exact triangle

$$\bigvee_{b \in \pi_k(A^{(k)})} \Sigma^k \mathbb{S} \xrightarrow{\vee \phi} A^{(k)} \longrightarrow A^{(k+1)} \longrightarrow \bigvee \Sigma^{k+1} \mathbb{S}.$$

We can always construct a map $A^{(1)} \longrightarrow E$, via the following.

9

Let $G = \pi_0(E)$. Then $A^{(1)}$ is the Moore spectrum *MG*, constructed via an exact triangle

$$\bigvee \mathbb{S} \xrightarrow{\rho} \bigvee \mathbb{S} \longrightarrow A^{(1)} = MG \longrightarrow \bigvee \Sigma \mathbb{S},$$

where the first wedge of sphere runs over the relations in G and the second wedge over the generators, see [5, Example 7.4.7]. We extend this to a diagram

$$\bigvee \mathbb{S} \xrightarrow{\rho} \bigvee \mathbb{S} \longrightarrow A^{(1)} \longrightarrow \bigvee \Sigma \mathbb{S},$$

$$f_0 = (\lor g) \bigvee_E E$$

where g runs over the generators of $\pi_0(E) = [\mathbb{S}, E]$. By construction, $f_0 \circ \rho = \lor g \circ \rho = 0$. Therefore, the dotted arrow exists, and we have a map $f_1 : A^{(1)} \longrightarrow E$.

If we have a map $f_k : A^{(k)} \longrightarrow E$, then this extends to a map $f_{k+1} : A^{(k+1)} \longrightarrow E$ if and only if the composite

$$\bigvee \Sigma^k \mathbb{S} \xrightarrow{\varphi = \lor \phi} A^{(k)} \xrightarrow{f_k} E$$

is zero. Therefore, the obstruction for the existence of f_k lies in

$$\varphi^*[A^{(k)}, E] = \{ f \circ \varphi \mid f \in [A^{(k)}, E] \}.$$

In particular, if all those cosets are trivial, then we have the desired map $f : A \longrightarrow E$.

Now let us examine $\varphi^*[A^{(k)}, E]$ in the case of $E = R \operatorname{Hom}(X, X)$, where X is a compact generator of the stable model category C. The map $f_k \circ \varphi$ is adjoint to the map $F \circ (X \wedge^L \varphi)$, where

$$F = \epsilon \circ (X \wedge^L f_k) \in [X \wedge^L A^{(k)}, X]^C$$

is adjoint to f_k and

$$\epsilon : X \wedge^L R \operatorname{Hom}(X, X) \longrightarrow X$$

is the counit of the adjunction. Therefore, we can say that the obstruction for the existence of

$$f_{k+1}: A^{(k+1)} \longrightarrow RHom(X,X)$$

lies in

$$(X \wedge^L \varphi)^* \Big([X \wedge^L A^{(k)}, X]^C \Big).$$

For RHom(X, Y), the obstructions lie in

$$(X \wedge^L \varphi)^* \Big([X \wedge^L A^{(k)}, Y]^C \Big).$$

Therefore, by Corollary 4.8, we have the following.

Proposition 5.8. *If there is a* $D(\mathbb{Z})$ *-action on* Ho(C)*, then*

$$(X \wedge^L \varphi)^* \left([X \wedge^L A^{(k)}, Y]^C \right) = 0$$

for all k.

Example 5.9. Let us return to our example of Morava *K*-theory and C = K(1)-mod. As noted at the beginning of the section, we are working *p*-locally. We would like to use the obstruction theory to construct a map

$$A = H\mathbb{Z}/p \longrightarrow E = \operatorname{Hom}_{K(1)}(K(1), K(1)) \cong K(1).$$

As K(1) is not an Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum, we will see exactly where this fails. Note that $K(1)_* = \mathbb{F}_p[v_1, v_1^{-1}]$ with $|v_1| = 2p - 2$, so, in particular, $\pi_0(K(1)) = \mathbb{Z}/p$, which is generated by the unit $\iota: \mathbb{S} \longrightarrow K(1)$. By the method described earlier, we have the following commutative diagram, in which *M* is the mod-*p* Moore spectrum.



The long exact sequence of homotopy groups tells us that the next non-trivial homotopy group of M is

$$\operatorname{incl}_*: \pi_{2p-3}(\mathbb{S}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \pi_{2p-3}(M),$$

so $\pi_{2p-3}(M) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p$ is generated by inclos α_1 . Furthermore, with regard to the obstruction theory, we have that

$$M = A^{(1)} = A^{(2)} = \dots = A^{(2p-3)}.$$

To work out the next obstruction, we look at the following diagram.

$$\Sigma^{2p-3} \$ \xrightarrow{\operatorname{incl} \circ \alpha_1} A^{(2p-3)} = M \xrightarrow{F} A^{(2p-2)} \xrightarrow{G} \Sigma^{2p-2} \$$$

$$\downarrow^{\mathfrak{l}}_{K(1)} \xrightarrow{\xi_{1}, \ldots, \xi_{l}} I$$

As we have that $\pi_{2p-3}(K(1)) = 0$, the map $\bar{\iota} \circ \text{incl} \circ \alpha_1$ is zero for degree reasons, and the dotted map $\tilde{\iota}$ exists. The next step of the obstruction is to investigate the existence of the dotted arrow in this diagram.



To find out what $\tilde{\iota} \circ (\lor \phi)$ is, we need to know $\pi_{2p-2}(A^{(2p-2)})$. We apply the long exact sequence of homotopy groups to the exact triangle defining $A^{(2p-2)}$ and obtain

$$\pi_{2p-2}(\Sigma^{2p-3}\mathbb{S}) \xrightarrow{(\operatorname{incl} \circ \alpha_1)_*} \pi_{2p-2}(M) \xrightarrow{F_*} \pi_{2p-2}(A^{(2p-2)}) \xrightarrow{G_*} \pi_{2p-2}(\Sigma^{2p-2}\mathbb{S}) \xrightarrow{(\operatorname{incl} \circ \alpha_1)_*} \pi_{2p-3}(M).$$

Clearly, the first term of this sequence is trivial, so F_* is an injection.

The long exact sequence of homotopy groups tells us that $\pi_{2p-3}(M) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p$ is generated by incl $\circ \alpha_1$, so the final map of the previous sequence has kernel $p\mathbb{Z}$, which is also the image of G_* . Again, we use the long exact sequence of homotopy groups to find out that

pinch_{*} :
$$\pi_{2p-2}(M) \longrightarrow \pi_{2p-3}(\mathbb{S})$$

is an isomorphism, and we know that $\pi_{2p-3}(\mathbb{S}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p$ is generated by the element α_1 . Therefore, $\pi_{2p-2}(M) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p$ is generated by an element x with pinch $\circ x = \alpha_1$. As

$$\alpha_1 = \operatorname{pinch} \circ v_1 \circ \operatorname{incl}$$

by [36, Section 6.2], we have that $\pi_{2p-2}(M)$ is generated by $v_1 \circ \text{incl.}$

As F_* is an injection, we know that $F \circ v_1 \circ \text{incl} \neq 0$. Thus, we need to calculate $\tilde{\iota} \circ F \circ v_1 \circ \text{incl}$. By construction, $\tilde{\iota} \circ F = \bar{\iota}$. By [34, Lemma 6.1.4], we have that $\bar{\iota} \circ v_1 = v_1 \circ \bar{\iota}$, so

$$\tilde{\iota} \circ F \circ v_1 \circ \operatorname{incl} = \bar{\iota} \circ v_1 \circ \operatorname{incl} = v_1 \circ \bar{\iota} \circ \operatorname{incl} = v_1 \circ \iota$$

This is precisely the generator of $\pi_{2p-2}(K(1))$ and hence not trivial. Therefore, the obstruction to extend $\tilde{\iota}$ to $A^{(2p-1)}$ is non-zero, and we arrive at the expected result that there is no non-trivial map from $H\mathbb{Z}/p$ to K(1); thus, revisiting the result that K(1) is not an Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum. In particular, the category of K(1)-modules does not carry a D(\mathbb{Z})-action. An analogous calculation holds for k(1) instead of K(1).

It is a subject for future research to see if the obstruction theory can be exploited further to determine the level of algebraicity of some other examples.

We now summarise the key findings of this section in the following example.

Example 5.10. For any $0 < n < \infty$, the Morava K-theory spectrum K(n) is not an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module, and therefore, the category K(n)-mod is neither algebraic nor has $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action. However, there is a triangulated equivalence $Ho(K(n)-mod) \simeq D(K(n)_*)$ making K(n)-mod triangulated algebraic. The category K(n)-mod also has trivial Ho(Sp)-action. On the other hand, the category $K(n)_*$ -mod is algebraic. As such, the triangulated equivalence on homotopy categories between K(n)-mod and $K(n)_*$ -mod cannot be lifted to a Quillen equivalence.

Further examples from chromatic homotopy theory 5.3

In this subsection, we explore some other examples, which arise from the work of [29-32].

In general, it is difficult to establish whether a model category is triangulated algebraic, if it is not already algebraic itself. In other words, we are looking for model categories with an

27

algebraic 'exotic model', like those from the Franke-style machinery. In the rest of this subsection, we explore some more triangulated algebraic examples arising in chromatic homotopy theory.

Example 5.11. From [32, Corollary 8.3], there are triangulated equivalences between each of the following model categories and an algebraic model category. Note that these are all corollaries from the same general theorem, which gives a triangulated equivalence between Ho(*R*-mod) and $D(\pi_*(R))$ under certain conditions on $\pi_*(R)$ related to sparseness and global dimension. Since these have different behaviour with regard to the action of Ho(Sp), we split up these examples into three types.

- (1) E(1)-local examples:
 - E(1)-modules for p > 2, $\pi_*(E(1)) = \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[v_1, v_1^{-1}], |v_1| = 2p 2;$
 - $KO_{(p)}$ -modules for p > 2, $\pi_*(KO_{(p)}) = \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[v, v^{-1}]$, |v| = 4;
 - $KU_{(p)}$ -modules for p > 2, $\pi_*(KU_{(p)}) = \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\beta, \beta^{-1}]$, $|\beta| = 2$.

For a ring spectrum *R*, the homotopy mapping spectra of *R*-modules are, of course, *R*-modules themselves and as such, they are also *R*-local spectra [33, Proposition 1.17(a)]. A spectrum is $KU_{(p)}$ -local if and only if it is $KO_{(p)}$ -local if and only if it is E(1)-local [33, Theorem 8.14]. As such in each of these examples, the homotopy mapping spectra are E(1)-local, and hence, the category has trivial Ho(Sp)-action by Theorem 4.18 since α_1 acts trivially for degree reasons.

- (2) Examples via nilpotence:
 - modules over connective Morava-*K*-theory k(n) for $0 < n < \infty$ with $p^n > 2$, where $k(n)_* = \mathbb{F}_p[v_n], |v_n| = 2p^n 2$.

We claim that the set $\{k(n)\}_{0 \le n \le \infty}$ detects nilpotence and therefore each k(n)-mod has trivial Ho(Sp)-action by Proposition 4.21. In order to show this, we will prove that a set $\{R_i\}$ of ring spectra detects nilpotence if for all $0 \le n \le \infty$, there exists an *i* such that $K(n)_*(R_i) \ne 0$. The argument for this is a slight modification of that of [24, Proof of Corollary 5]. Let $f : \Sigma^k A \to A$ be a map of finite spectra. Since K(n) is a field, $K(n) \land R_i$ is a wedge of suspensions of K(n), and therefore, if $R_i \land^L f = 0$ for all *i*, it follows that $K(n) \land^L f = 0$ for all *n*. Since $\{K(n)\}_{0 \le n \le \infty}$ detects nilpotence by [24, Theorem 3] it follows that *f* is nilpotent, and hence that $\{R_i\}$ detects nilpotence. Since $k(n) \land K(n) \ne 0$ [33, Theorem 2.1(e)], the previous criterion coupled with Proposition 4.21 shows that k(n)-mod has trivial action.

- (3) Other examples:
 - E(n)-modules for 2p n > 3, where $\pi_*(E(n)) = \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[v_1, \dots, v_{n-1}, v_n, v_n^{-1}], |v_i| = 2p^i 2;$
 - modules over the truncated Brown–Peterson spectrum $BP\langle n \rangle$ for 2p n > 4, $BP\langle n \rangle_* = \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[v_1, \dots, v_n], |v_i| = 2p^i 2.$

By Corollary 4.17, these examples have trivial Ho(Sp)-action.

All of the above examples are triangulated algebraic. However, in each case, *R* is not a generalised Eilenberg–Mac Lane spectrum (see [29, Appendix A] for details), and hence, by Corollary 3.16 and Proposition 4.3, none of the above are algebraic nor have a $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action.

5.4 | Complex cobordism

In this section, we consider the example of the complex cobordism spectrum *MU*, and investigate what kinds of algebraicity *MU*-mod enjoys.

Example 5.12. Since {*MU*} detects nilpotence by [11, Theorem 1], it follows from Proposition 4.21 that Ho(*MU*-mod) has trivial Ho(Sp)-action. (Alternatively, this also follows from Corollary 4.17.) One sees that *MU*-mod is not algebraic by Corollary 3.16; if *MU* were an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra, then any *MU*-module would be an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module by restriction of scalars but this fails, for example, for *K*(*n*), see Example 5.10. One can also see that *MU*-mod does not have a D(\mathbb{Z})-action as follows. The homotopy mapping spectrum Hom_{*MU*}(*MU*, *K*(*n*)) $\simeq K(n)$ is not an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module, and so by Proposition 4.3, the action of Ho(Sp) does not factor over D(\mathbb{Z}).

To the best of the authors' knowledge, whether or not MU-mod is triangulated algebraic is an open question. Schwede has introduced the *n*-order of a triangulated category as an invariant; the *n*-order of a triangulated algebraic category is infinite [38, Theorem 2.1], but the converse need not hold. The category Ho(MU-mod) has infinite *n*-order [38, Example 1.8], so this invariant is not conclusive in this example.

5.5 | Endomorphisms of $H\mathbb{Z}$ over ku

In this section, we explore an interesting example which shows (amongst other things) that having a $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action is weaker than being algebraic.

Let ku denote the connective complex *K*-theory spectrum, and recall that $ku_* = \mathbb{Z}[\beta]$ where β is the Bott element in degree 2. By killing homotopy groups, there is a ring map $ku \to H\mathbb{Z}$. Note, moreover, that $H\mathbb{Z}$ is a compact ku-module since it is equivalent (as a ku-module) to the Koszul spectrum

$$ku/\!\!/\beta = \operatorname{cofib}(\Sigma^2 ku \xrightarrow{\beta} ku)$$

In this example, we consider the endomorphism ring spectrum $\mathcal{E} = \text{End}_{ku}(H\mathbb{Z})$. Before we can discuss what types of algebraicity the category of \mathcal{E} -modules enjoys we require some preparatory results.

There is a ring map $c : ku \to \text{End}_{\mathcal{E}}(H\mathbb{Z})$ adjoint to the action map of ku on $H\mathbb{Z}$, called the *double centraliser*.

Lemma 5.13. The map $c : ku \to \text{End}_{\mathcal{E}}(H\mathbb{Z})$ is an equivalence; in the language of [10, §4.16], the map $ku \to H\mathbb{Z}$ is dc-complete.

Proof. The double centraliser may be identified with the β -completion $\Lambda_{\beta}(ku)$ of ku [9] (also see [18, §6.C]), so it suffices to show that ku is β -complete. There is a spectral sequence [16, 3.3]

$$E_{s,t}^2 = H_s^\beta(ku_*)_t \Longrightarrow \pi_{s+t}(\Lambda_\beta(ku)),$$

where $H_*^{\beta}(ku_*)$ denotes the local homology groups of ku_* at the ideal (β) in the sense of [15]. Since the coefficient ring \mathbb{Z} of $ku_* = \mathbb{Z}[\beta]$ is in degree 0 and β is in degree 2, one sees that $\mathbb{Z}[\beta]$ agrees with the power series ring $\mathbb{Z}[[\beta]]$ by comparing homogeneous parts. As such, $ku_* = \mathbb{Z}[\beta]$ is β -adically complete, and thus, the local homology groups are

$$H_s^{\beta}(ku_*) = \begin{cases} ku_* & s = 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

by [15, Theorem 4.1]. Therefore, the spectral sequence collapses at the E^2 -page to show that ku is β -complete, and hence, that c is an equivalence.

Using the previous lemma, we now show that while the endomorphism ring spectrum \mathcal{E} is an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module, it is not an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra.

Theorem 5.14. The endomorphism ring spectrum $\mathcal{E} = \text{Hom}_{ku}(H\mathbb{Z}, H\mathbb{Z})$ is an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module, but is not weakly equivalent to an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra as a ring spectrum.

Proof. There is a ring map $H\mathbb{Z} \to \mathcal{E}$ which is adjoint to the map $H\mathbb{Z} \wedge_{ku} H\mathbb{Z} \to H\mathbb{Z}$. This gives \mathcal{E} the structure of an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -module by restriction.

We now suppose that \mathcal{E} is an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra and produce a contradiction. If \mathcal{E} were an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra, then $\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{E}}(H\mathbb{Z})$ would also be an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra. If this were the case, then we would have a commutative diagram



since S is initial. As *c* is an equivalence by Lemma 5.13, this would mean that the unit map of ku factors over $H\mathbb{Z}$, which is false as $[H\mathbb{Z}, ku]$ is zero in degree zero. This is well known but for completeness, we recall the argument in Lemma 5.16 below. As such, \mathcal{E} cannot be weakly equivalent to an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra as a ring spectrum.

We now turn to relating the above observations to algebraicity statements.

Example 5.15. Consider the $H\mathbb{Z}$ -cellularisation of ku-modules which we denote by $\operatorname{Cell}_{H\mathbb{Z}}(ku \operatorname{-mod})$. This is sometimes called the right Bousfield localisation at $H\mathbb{Z}$ and denoted by $R_{H\mathbb{Z}}(ku \operatorname{-mod})$. The homotopy category of this model category is the localising subcategory $\operatorname{Loc}_{ku}(H\mathbb{Z})$ of ku-modules generated by $H\mathbb{Z}$, and $H\mathbb{Z}$ is a compact generator for it [19, Corollary 2.6]. By Morita theory, we have a Quillen equivalence

 $\operatorname{Cell}_{H\mathbb{Z}}(ku\operatorname{-mod})\simeq_O \operatorname{mod}\mathcal{E},$

see [9, Theorem 2.1] and [4, Theorem 8.7]. Since \mathcal{E} is spectral with enrichment given by $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{E}}(-, -)$, we have $\operatorname{hEnd}(\mathcal{E}) = \mathcal{E}$. Since \mathcal{E} is not weakly equivalent to an $H\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra as a ring spectrum by Theorem 5.14, we see that $\operatorname{Cell}_{H\mathbb{Z}}(ku\operatorname{-mod})$ and $\operatorname{mod}-\mathcal{E}$ are not algebraic by Theorem 3.15.

We now show that mod- \mathcal{E} (and hence $\operatorname{Cell}_{H\mathbb{Z}}(ku\operatorname{-mod})$) has a $\mathsf{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ -action. There exists a ring map $\theta: H\mathbb{Z} \to \mathcal{E}$ adjoint to the map $H\mathbb{Z} \wedge_{ku} H\mathbb{Z} \to H\mathbb{Z}$. The category Ho(mod- \mathcal{E}) is enriched, tensored and cotensored over itself, and hence is enriched, tensored and cotensored over $\mathsf{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ via extension and restriction of scalars along the ring map θ , see [35, 3.7.11], for instance. Therefore, mod- \mathcal{E} has a $\mathsf{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ -action. This shows that the converse to Proposition 4.5 is false, because we have found a model category with $\mathsf{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ -action which is not algebraic. Furthermore, we can also see from Corollary 4.10 that mod- \mathcal{E} has a trivial Ho(Sp)-action.

We have also computed the homotopy groups of \mathcal{E} , but they do not satisfy the hypotheses of [29–32] regarding global dimension and sparseness, so we cannot draw any conclusions about whether or not mod- \mathcal{E} is triangulated algebraic at this stage.

We finish this example with a lemma we needed for Theorem 5.14.

Lemma 5.16. The group $[H\mathbb{Z}, ku]_0$ is trivial.

Proof. Firstly, we note that the connective cover functor is right adjoint to the inclusion of the full category of connective spectra into spectra. Thus,

 $[H\mathbb{Z}, ku]_* = [H\mathbb{Z}, KU]_* = KU^*(H\mathbb{Z}),$

which is of course 2-periodic. There is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathbb{Z}}(KU_{-1}(H\mathbb{Z}),\mathbb{Z}) \to KU^{0}(H\mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(KU_{0}(H\mathbb{Z}),\mathbb{Z}) \to 0,$$

see [25], so we need to calculate $KU_*(H\mathbb{Z})$. We note that $L_{KU}H\mathbb{Z} = H\mathbb{Q}$ [20, Proposition 5.2], so

$$KU_*(H\mathbb{Z}) = KU_*(L_{KU}H\mathbb{Z}) = \pi_*(H\mathbb{Q} \wedge KU),$$

which is \mathbb{Q} in even degrees and zero in odd degrees. Putting this into the previous short exact sequence yields that $[H\mathbb{Z}, KU]_{\text{even}} = \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ and $[H\mathbb{Z}, KU]_{\text{odd}} = \text{Ext}^{1}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z})$.

5.6 | Summary of our findings

In this subsection, we summarise the main findings of this paper. Figure 2 shows a summary of how the different notations of algebraicity relate, and Table 1 recaps the properties of the various examples studied.



FIGURE 2 Summary of the relations between different notions of algebraicity. The implications which hold are in black, whereas those that fail are in red.

Category	Algebraic	$D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action	Triangulated algebraic	Trivial action	Essentially trivial action	Ref.					
L_1 Sp ($p > 2$)	X	X	1	X	×	5.5					
Franke's exotic model for L_1 Sp ($p > 2$)	1	1	1	1	1	5.6					
General exotic models for $L_1 \text{Sp} (p > 2)$?	?	1	?	1	5.7					
$K(n)_*$ -mod	1	✓	1	1	1	5.10					
$K(n) \operatorname{\!-mod} \left(0 < n < \infty \right)$	X	X	\checkmark	1	1	5.10					
$\begin{split} & E(1) \text{-mod} \ (p > 2) \\ & KO_{(p)} \text{-mod} \ (p > 2) \\ & KU_{(p)} \text{-mod} \ (p > 2) \end{split}$	×	×	✓	1	✓	5.11					
k(n)-mod ($0 < n < \infty$ and $p^n > 2$)	×	X	1	1	1	5.11					
$E(n) \operatorname{-mod} (2p - n > 3)$ $BP\langle n \rangle \operatorname{-mod} (2p - n > 4)$	×	X	1	1	1	5.11					
MU-mod	X	X	(?)	1	1	5.12					
$\operatorname{Cell}_{H\mathbb{Z}}(ku\operatorname{-mod})$	x	✓	?	1	1	5.15					

TABLE 1 Summary of examples.

It is hard to imagine that the implication from trivial action to triangulated algebraic does hold, but the authors could not find a counterexample at the moment. The same applies to the implication from $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action to triangulated algebraic. Of course, if the dotted implication in the diagram does hold, then $D(\mathbb{Z})$ -action would imply triangulated algebraic.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Scott Balchin, David Barnes and Anna Marie Bohmann for helpful discussions. We furthermore thank the referee of the final version for their helpful comments. The second author thanks the London Mathematical Society for an Emmy Noether Fellowship. The third author was supported by the grant GA ČR 20-02760Y from the Czech Science Foundation.

JOURNAL INFORMATION

The *Journal of the London Mathematical Society* is wholly owned and managed by the London Mathematical Society, a not-for-profit Charity registered with the UK Charity Commission. All surplus income from its publishing programme is used to support mathematicians and mathematics research in the form of research grants, conference grants, prizes, initiatives for early career researchers and the promotion of mathematics.

REFERENCES

- 1. F. Borceux, *Categories and structures*, Handbook of categorical algebra, 2, vol. 51 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994.
- 2. D. Barnes and C. Roitzheim, Local framings, New York J. Math 17 (2011), 513-552.
- 3. D. Barnes and C. Roitzheim, Monoidality of Franke's exotic model, Adv. Math. 228 (2011), no. 6, 3223–3248.
- 4. D. Barnes and C. Roitzheim, Stable left and right Bousfield localisations, Glasg. Math. J. 56 (2014), no. 1, 13-42.
- 5. D. Barnes and C. Roitzheim, *Foundations of stable homotopy theory*, vol. 185 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2020.

- C. Casacuberta and J. J. Gutiérrez, Homotopical localizations of module spectra, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 357 (2005), no. 7, 2753–2770.
- J. D. Christensen and M. Hovey, Quillen model structures for relative homological algebra, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 133 (2002), no. 2, 261–293.
- 8. J. M. Cohen, The decomposition of stable homotopy, Ann. of Math. (2) 87 (1968), 305–320.
- 9. W. G. Dwyer and J. P. C. Greenlees, *Complete modules and torsion modules*, Amer. J. Math. **124** (2002), no. 1, 199–220.
- W. G. Dwyer, J. P. C. Greenlees, and S. Iyengar, *Duality in algebra and topology*, Adv. Math. 200 (2006), no. 2, 357–402.
- 11. E. S. Devinatz, M. J. Hopkins, and J. H. Smith, *Nilpotence and stable homotopy theory. I*, Ann. of Math. (2) **128** (1988), no. 2, 207–241.
- D. Dugger and B. Shipley, Enriched model categories and an application to additive endomorphism spectra, Theory Appl. Categ. 18 (2007), no. 15, 400–439.
- 13. D. Dugger, Spectral enrichments of model categories, Homology, Homotopy Appl. 8 (2006), no. 1, 1-30.
- 14. J. Franke, Uniqueness theorems for certain triangulated categories possessing an Adams spectral sequence, K-theory Preprint Archives, 1996, 139.
- 15. J. P. C. Greenlees and J. P. May, *Derived functors of I-adic completion and local homology*, J. Algebra **149** (1992), no. 2, 438–453.
- 16. J. P. C. Greenlees and J. P. May, *Completions in algebra and topology*, In Handbook of algebraic topology, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1995, pp. 255–276.
- 17. B. J. Guillou and J. P. May, *Enriched model categories and presheaf categories*, New York J. Math. **26** (2020), 37–91.
- J. P. C. Greenlees, *Homotopy invariant commutative algebra over fields*, Building bridges between algebra and topology, Adv. Courses Math. CRM Barcelona, Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2018, pp. 103–169.
- 19. J. P. C. Greenlees and B. Shipley, *The cellularization principle for Quillen adjunctions*, Homology, Homotopy Appl. **15** (2013), no. 2, 173–184.
- 20. J. J. Gutiérrez, Homological localizations of Eilenberg-MacLane spectra, Forum Math. 22 (2010), no. 2, 349–356.
- 21. M. Hovey, *Model categories*, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 63, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1999.
- 22. M. Hovey, Spectra and symmetric spectra in general model categories, J. Pure Appl. Algebra **165** (2001), no. 1, 63–127.
- M. Hovey, *Homotopy theory of comodules over a Hopf algebroid*, Homotopy theory: relations with algebraic geometry, group cohomology, and algebraic *K*-theory, vol. 346 of Contemp. Math., Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004, pp. 261–304.
- 24. M. J. Hopkins and J. H. Smith, *Nilpotence and stable homotopy theory II*, Ann. of Math. (2) **148** (1998), no. 1, 1–49.
- 25. D. Heard and V. Stojanoska, K-theory, reality, and duality, J. K-Theory 14 (2014), no. 3, 526–555.
- B. Keller, On differential graded categories, International Congress of Mathematicians, vol. II, Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2006, pp. 151–190.
- 27. F. Lenhardt, Stable frames in model categories, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 216 (2012), no. 5, 1080–1091.
- G. Nishida, The nilpotency of elements of the stable homotopy groups of spheres, J. Math. Soc. Japan 25 (1973), 707–732.
- 29. I. Patchkoria, On the algebraic classification of module spectra, Algebr. Geom. Topol. 12 (2012), no. 4, 2329–2388.
- I. Patchkoria, The derived category of complex periodic K-theory localized at an odd prime, Adv. Math. 309 (2017), 392–435.
- 31. I. Patchkoria, On exotic equivalences and a theorem of Franke, Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 49 (2017), no. 6, 1085–1099.
- 32. I. Patchkoria and P. Pstrągowski, Adams spectral sequences and Franke's algebraicity conjecture, arXiv:2110.03669, 2021.
- D. C. Ravenel, Localization with respect to certain periodic homology theories, Amer. J. Math. 106 (1984), no. 2, 351–414.
- 34. D. C. Ravenel, *Nilpotence and periodicity in stable homotopy theory*, Annals of Mathematics Studies, vol. 128, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1992. Appendix C by Jeff Smith.

- 35. E. Riehl, *Categorical homotopy theory*, New Mathematical Monographs, vol. 24, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2014.
- C. Roitzheim, *Rigidity and exotic models for the K-local stable homotopy category*, Geom. Topol. 11 (2007), no. 4, 1855–1886.
- 37. C. Roitzheim, On the algebraic classification of K-local spectra, Homology, Homotopy Appl. **10** (2008), no. 1, 389–412.
- 38. S. Schwede, The n-order of algebraic triangulated categories, J. Topol. 6 (2013), no. 4, 857–867.
- 39. B. Shipley, *H*ℤ-algebra spectra are differential graded algebras, Amer. J. Math. **129** (2007), no. 2, 351–379.
- 40. S. Schwede and B. Shipley, *Algebras and modules in monoidal model categories*, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) **80** (2000), no. 2, 491–511.
- 41. S. Schwede and B. Shipley, A uniqueness theorem for stable homotopy theory, Math. Z. 239 (2002), no. 4, 803–828.
- 42. S. Schwede and B. Shipley, *Equivalences of monoidal model categories*, Algebr. Geom. Topol. **3** (2003), no. 1, 287–334.
- 43. S. Schwede and B. Shipley, Stable model categories are categories of modules, Topology 42 (2003), no. 1, 103–153.